#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal arises from a May 9, 2023 Omnibus Order granting summary judgment for Defendant-Appellee the District of Columbia (the "District") on all counts of the Complaint filed in this Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA") matter by Plaintiff-Appellant WP Company LLC d/b/a *The Washington Post* (the "Post"). The Post timely filed a notice of appeal on June 8, 2023. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Post requested copies of certain 911 call recordings from January 6, 2021, and the District refused to produce any of those recordings on the grounds that their release may interfere with ongoing law enforcement proceedings. Did the Superior Court err in ruling that the District could withhold all responsive 911 recordings, including calls related solely to closed Capitol riot investigations, because other Capitol riot investigations remain ongoing?
- 2. The Post requested a copy of the autopsy report of Capitol Police
  Officer Brian Sicknick, who died the day after the Capitol riot, and the District
  withheld the report in full under FOIA's personal privacy exemption. Did the
  Superior Court err in permitting the District to withhold that entire autopsy report,
  rather than directing the District to produce a properly redacted copy of the report?

3. When the Post requested copies of all messages that District Mayor Muriel Bowser sent via WhatsApp between January 5 and January 8, 2021, Mayor Bowser conducted the search herself and, according to the District, found no responsive records. The Superior Court authorized the Post to take discovery into the scope and efficacy of that search, but the District obtained a protective order to prevent the Post from taking Mayor Bowser's deposition. Did the Superior Court err in subsequently granting summary judgment for the District and concluding that the District had carried its burden to show that it made a good faith effort to conduct a search for the requested records, using methods which could have been reasonably expected to produce the requested messages, even though, as a result of the protective order, the record contains no testimony whatsoever from Mayor Bowser – or anyone else – about how she in fact conducted that search?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Post submitted the FOIA requests at issue in this appeal to further the public's understanding of the riot at the U.S. Capitol on January 6, 2021, "the most significant assault on the Capitol since the War of 1812." *Trump v. Thompson*, 20 F.4th 10, 18-19 (D.C. Cir. 2021). One of those requests sought messages sent by District Mayor Muriel Bowser via WhatsApp between January 5 and January 8, 2021, another sought recordings of certain 911 calls related to the Capitol riot, and

a third sought the autopsy report of Capitol Police Officer Brian Sicknick, who was attacked with a chemical spray while defending the Capitol and died the next day.

The Mayor's messages and the 911 recordings would help the public evaluate whether the District's chief executive and law enforcement adequately prepared for this historic attack and how they responded to it in real-time, and the autopsy report would help resolve the public's lingering confusion over the official ruling that Officer Sicknick died of natural causes. But the District claimed that it could not locate any WhatsApp messages that Mayor Bowser sent during that period, it withheld all of the 911 call recordings under the FOIA exemption for law enforcement records whose release would interfere with active investigations, and it withheld the autopsy report in full under FOIA's personal privacy exemption.

The Superior Court (Scott, J.) erred in granting summary judgment for the District on each of those responses. As to the 911 recordings, the Superior Court ruled that the District could withhold <u>all</u> such recordings, even though the District did not, and could not, show that those recordings <u>all</u> relate to open investigations. As to the autopsy report, the Superior Court erred in permitting the District to withhold the entire record rather than ordering it to produce the report with any photographs redacted. And, as to Mayor Bowser's messages, the Superior Court ruled that the District's search was adequate even though Mayor Bowser conducted

the search herself and the court barred the Post from taking the Mayor's deposition.

Because the Superior Court erred on each of these issues, the Court should reverse the Omnibus Order as to Counts I, II, and VI of the Post's Complaint.

#### FACTUAL BACKGROUND

## I. Mayor Bowser's Use Of WhatsApp Messages

It is public knowledge that, in Mayor Bowser's office, "it is 'commonplace' for communication between managers and employees, both individually and in groups" to take place over the ephemeral text messaging application WhatsApp, and that "[m]uch of that communication happens during the day and touches on official government business and functions." *See* Martin Austermuhle, *Staff For Mayor Muriel Bowser Use WhatsApp, Raising Concerns About Open Records*, WAMU (Oct. 9, 2019). This use of WhatsApp was confirmed in this litigation by Christina Sacco from the Executive Office of the Mayor's Office of General Counsel, who testified that she used WhatsApp for District business when employed by the Executive Office of the Mayor. JA-122 (Sacco Tr. at 24:17-19).

The advent of ephemeral messaging applications such as WhatsApp, which can be set by senders or recipients to automatically delete messages, poses a threat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Available at <a href="https://dcist.com/story/19/10/09/staff-for-mayor-muriel-bowser-use-whatsapp-raising-concerns-about-open-records/">https://dcist.com/story/19/10/09/staff-for-mayor-muriel-bowser-use-whatsapp-raising-concerns-about-open-records/</a>.

to FOIA as more government business is conducted outside the scope of public view. See generally Comment, Kurt J. Starman, Now You See It, Now You Don't: The Emerging Use of Ephemeral Messaging Apps by State and Local Government Officials, 4 Concordia L. Rev. 213 (Apr. 2019); Jason R. Baron, Correcting the Public Record: Reforming Federal and Presidential Records Management (Mar. 15, 2022). Ephemeral messaging apps exist to prevent the creation of records, a purpose in opposition to the District's obligations under FOIA. "Modernization and innovation in technology should be used to create and retain more not less transparency in the spaces where public official and employees exercise the public trust." FOIA Advisory Opinion, OOG-#2022-00, at 15 (Mar. 16, 2022).

Thus, after public outcry regarding Mayor Bowser's use of WhatsApp for official business, the District Office of Open Government issued an Advisory Opinion recommending that the Mayor "prohibit the use of ephemeral text messaging applications[]" because it "indirectly circumvents D.C. FOIA by effectively treating a written conversation as a phone call." *Id.* The Office of Open Government observed that the use of ephemeral messaging applications undermines FOIA because "[d]isclosure later depends on retention now." *Id.* 

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.hsgac.senate.gov/wp-content/uploads/imo/media/doc/Testimony-Baron-2022-03-15.pdf">https://www.hsgac.senate.gov/wp-content/uploads/imo/media/doc/Testimony-Baron-2022-03-15.pdf</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.open-dc.gov/sites/default/files/FOIA%20Advisory">https://www.open-dc.gov/sites/default/files/FOIA%20Advisory</a> <a href="https://ww

## **II.** The Capitol Riot

"On November 3, 2020, Americans elected Joseph Biden as President, giving him 306 electoral college votes. Then-President Trump, though, refused to concede, claiming that the election was 'rigged' and characterized by 'tremendous voter fraud and irregularities[.]" *Trump*, 20 F.4th at 17. "[A] Joint Session of Congress convened on January 6, 2021 to certify the results of the election," and "[i]n anticipation of that event, President Trump had sent out a Tweet encouraging his followers to gather for a '[b]ig protest in D.C. on January 6th' and to '[b]e there, will be wild!" *Id*. (citations omitted).

"[O]n January 6th, President Trump took the stage at a rally of his supporters on the Ellipse, just south of the White House." *Id.* at 17-18. "Urging the crowd to 'demand that Congress do the right thing and only count the electors who have been lawfully slated,' [Trump] warned that 'you'll never take back our country with weakness' and declared 'we fight like hell and if you don't fight like hell, you're not going to have a country anymore." *Id.* at 18 (cleaned up).

"[A]fter the speech, a large crowd of President Trump's supporters — including some armed with weapons and wearing full tactical gear — marched to the Capitol and violently broke into the building to try and prevent Congress's certification of the election results." *Id.* They "overwhelmed law enforcement and scaled walls, smashed through barricades, and shattered windows to gain access to

the interior of the Capitol. Police officers were attacked with chemical agents, beaten with flag poles and frozen water bottles, and crushed between doors and throngs of rioters." *Id.* "Even with reinforcements from the D.C. National Guard, the D.C. Metropolitan Police Department, Virginia State Troopers, the Department of Homeland Security, and the FBI, Capitol Police were not able to regain control of the building and establish a security perimeter for hours." *Id.* 

Federal law enforcement agencies subsequently "deployed [their] full investigative resources . . . to aggressively pursue those involved in criminal activity" on January 6. *See Director Wray's Statement on Violent Activity at the U.S. Capitol Building*, FBI (Jan. 7, 2021).<sup>4</sup> To date, more than 1,100 people have been charged with crimes relating to the Capitol riot and more than 700 people have pleaded guilty to one or more charges stemming from the riot. *See The Capitol siege: The cases behind the biggest criminal investigation in U.S. history*, NPR (published Feb. 9, 2021, last updated Nov. 10, 2023).<sup>5</sup>

#### **III.** Officer Brian Sicknick

Brian D. Sicknick "was the youngest of three brothers who grew up in a borough along the I-95 corridor south of New Brunswick, and earned a bachelor's

<sup>4</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.fbi.gov/news/press-releases/director-wrays-statement-on-violent-activity-at-the-us-capitol-building-010721">https://www.fbi.gov/news/press-releases/director-wrays-statement-on-violent-activity-at-the-us-capitol-building-010721</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.npr.org/2021/02/09/965472049/the-capitol-siege-the-arrested-and-their-stories">https://www.npr.org/2021/02/09/965472049/the-capitol-siege-the-arrested-and-their-stories</a>.

degree in criminal justice from the University of Phoenix." *See* Peter Hermann et al., *U.S. Capitol Police officer Brian D. Sicknick, who died after assault on Capitol, protected with a kind touch*, The Washington Post (Jan. 8, 2021). Officer Sicknick "wanted to be a police officer his entire life" and "joined the New Jersey Air National Guard as a means to that end following the 9/11 terrorist attacks." *Id.* (internal marks omitted). Officer Sicknick joined the Capitol Police in 2008. *Id.* 

On the afternoon of January 6, 2021, Officer Sicknick was one of several law enforcement personnel protecting the Capitol's Lower West Terrace when he was confronted by Julian Khater and George Tanios. *See* Statement of Facts at 2-3, *United States v. Khater* ("*U.S. v. Khater*"), No. 21-cr-222-TFH (D.D.C. Mar. 6, 2021), ECF No. 1-1. At approximately 2:23 P.M., Khater sprayed a chemical irritant into Officer Sicknick's face and the faces of several other officers. *Id.* at 5-6. Officer Sicknick was "temporary blinded by the substance" and a fellow officer "reported lasting injuries underneath her eyes, including scabbing that remained on her face for weeks." *Id.* at 6. Khater subsequently pleaded guilty to having "assaulted, resisted, opposed, impeded, intimidated, or interfered with" Officer Sicknick using "a deadly or dangerous weapon." *See* Gov't's Submission of

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/brian-sicknick-capitol-police-officer-dies/2021/01/08/5552e036-51bc-11eb-83e3-322644d82356">https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/brian-sicknick-capitol-police-officer-dies/2021/01/08/5552e036-51bc-11eb-83e3-322644d82356</a> story.html.

Elements of Offense & Proffer of Evid. in Supp. of Def.'s Plea of Guilty at 5-6, U.S. v. Khater, ECF No. 80.

According to the Capitol Police, following the riot Officer Sicknick "returned to his division office and collapsed. He was taken to a local hospital where he succumbed to his injuries." *See Loss of USCP Officer Brian D. Sicknick*, U.S. Capitol Police (Jan. 7, 2021). The Acting Attorney General of the United States issued a statement the following day, noting that Officer Sicknick "succumbed... to the injuries he suffered defending the U.S. Capitol, against the violent mob who stormed it on January 6th," and reassuring the public that "[t]he FBI and Metropolitan Police Department will jointly investigate the case and the Department of Justice will spare no resources in investigating and holding accountable those responsible." *See Statement of Acting Att'y Gen. Jeffrey A. Rosen on the Death of U.S. Capitol Police Officer Brian D. Sicknick*, Dep't of Justice Off. of Pub. Affairs (Jan. 8, 2021).

On February 1, 2021, Congress passed a Concurrent Resolution providing "[t]hat the remains of the late United States Capitol Police Officer Brian D. Sicknick shall be permitted to lie in honor in the rotunda of the Capitol." *See* 

<sup>7</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.uscp.gov/media-center/press-releases/loss-uscp-colleague-brian-d-sicknick">https://www.uscp.gov/media-center/press-releases/loss-uscp-colleague-brian-d-sicknick</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/statement-acting-attorney-general-jeffrey-rosen-death-us-capitol-police-officer-brian-d">https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/statement-acting-attorney-general-jeffrey-rosen-death-us-capitol-police-officer-brian-d</a>.

H. Con. Res. 10 (117th Cong.). Officer Sicknick became only "the fifth deceased person who was not a public official or military leader to lie in the Rotunda." *See* Meagan Flynn et al., *Officer Brian Sicknick remembered as hero who died defending the U.S. Capitol*, The Washington Post (Feb. 3, 2021).<sup>9</sup>

On April 19, 2021, the District's Chief Medical Examiner, Dr. Francisco J. Diaz, gave an interview to the Post, during which Dr. Diaz stated that Officer Sicknick died of strokes at the base of his brainstem, but also that "all that transpired played a role in [Officer Sicknick's] condition." *See* Hermann et al., *supra* note 6.

Even after the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner ("OCME") ruled that Officer Sicknick died of natural causes, officials have continued to attribute Officer Sicknick's death to the events of January 6. Capitol Police General Counsel Thomas A. DiBiase, for example, has insisted that OCME's "conclusion does not mean that Officer Sicknick was not assaulted nor that the events at the Capitol did not contribute to his death." *See* Ltr. from T. DiBiase to Sen. R. Johnson (May 6, 2021). Similarly, in June 2021 President Biden described the events of January 6 as "criminals . . . break[ing] through cordon, go[ing] into the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/sicknick-honor-capitol/2021/02/02/3878d5ae-6578-11eb-8c64-9595888caa15">https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/public-safety/sicknick-honor-capitol/2021/02/02/3878d5ae-6578-11eb-8c64-9595888caa15</a> story.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.ronjohnson.senate.gov/services/files/DAA99532-CA05-4653-8F97-F2E263030B38">https://www.ronjohnson.senate.gov/services/files/DAA99532-CA05-4653-8F97-F2E263030B38</a>.

Capitol, kill[ing] a police officer, and be[ing] held unaccountable." *See Remarks* by *President Biden in Press Conference*, The White House (June 16, 2021). And in August 2021, Congress passed and the President signed a bill awarding the Congressional Gold Medal "to the United States Capitol Police and those who protected the U.S. Capitol on January 6, 2021," which referred to "[t]he sacrifice of heroes" including Officer Sicknick. *See* Pub. L. 117-32 (2021).

### **IV.** The Post's FOIA Requests

On January 7, 2021, the day after the Capitol riot, Post FOIA Director Nate Jones submitted a FOIA request seeking "[a]ll messages sent by Mayor Muriel Bowser on her WhatsApp account and email account between January 5 and January 8, 2021." JA-032 (Compl. Ex. A). At the time the Post filed this lawsuit, the District had not responded to this request. JA-023 (Compl. ¶ 39).

On February 19, 2021 Post journalist Shawn Boburg submitted a FOIA request seeking "[a]ll 911 recordings, dispatch communications and CAD entries related to the Jan. 6, 2021 protest and subsequent riot at the U.S. Capitol," and expressly "limit[ing] the responsive records to events located in or calls originating from the First and Second police districts from 10 a.m. to 10 p.m. on Jan. 6, 2021." *See* JA-035 (Compl. Ex. B). On March 30, 2021, the District denied that request,

**—11** —

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Available at <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/speeches-remarks/2021/06/16/remarks-by-president-biden-in-press-conference-4/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/speeches-remarks/2021/06/16/remarks-by-president-biden-in-press-conference-4/</a>.

citing FOIA's law enforcement exemption. See JA-041 (Compl. Ex. D) (citing D.C. Code §§ 2-534 (a)(3)(A)(i) and (a)(3)(B)).

On April 20, 2021, Post reporter Peter Hermann submitted a FOIA request seeking a copy of the autopsy report for Officer Sicknick. JA-060 (Compl. Ex. K); JA-026 (Compl. ¶ 53). On April 27, 2021, the District denied that request, citing FOIA's personal privacy exemption. JA-061 (Compl. Ex. K at 1) (citing D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(2)).

#### V. This FOIA Lawsuit

The Post filed this action against the District on June 23, 2021, challenging the District's responses to multiple FOIA requests related to the Capitol riot, including the three requests discussed above. The District initially moved to dismiss the Post's Complaint in part, and the Court (Williams, J.) denied dismissal as to the request for Mayor Bowser's WhatsApp messages, explaining that it "is not convinced that the Mayor's search for messages sent from her WhatsApp account between January 5 and January 8 was sufficient," including because the declaration of Associate General Counsel Sacco that the District submitted with its first partial motion to dismiss "d[id] not provide information about how the search was conducted." JA-073 (Jan 24, 2022 Order at 3).

The Court accordingly permitted the Post to take discovery as to search adequacy, specifically the "efficacy and scope" of the search and "the process used

to search these messages." *Id.* Mayor Bowser purportedly conducted the search for records responsive to that request herself and, according to the District, found no such WhatsApp messages. *See, e.g.*, JA-084 (Def.'s Resp. to Pl.'s Interrogs. at 4) ("Mayor Bowser searched her WhatsApp account for messages sent during the specified period and determined that there were none"). The Post subsequently took Ms. Sacco's deposition, but her testimony revealed that she lacked any knowledge whatsoever of how Mayor Bowser conducted the search in question. *See e.g.*, JA-160 (Sacco Tr. at 62:12-14) ("I wasn't involved in conducting a search of [WhatsApp] messages in any way").

Because Ms. Sacco lacked knowledge regarding the Mayor's search for WhatsApp messages – the subject into which the Court authorized the Post to take discovery – the Post then noticed the deposition of Mayor Bowser. The District moved for a protective order to preclude the deposition, which the Post opposed. Following a hearing, the Court granted the District's motion and prevented the Post from taking Mayor Bowser's deposition. JA-075.

On December 5, 2022, the District moved for summary judgment on Counts II-VI of the Post's Complaint. The Post responded in opposition as to Counts II and VI, which pertain to the 911 recordings and the autopsy report, respectively, on the grounds that the District's withholdings are improper and that at least some

of the 911 recordings and certain portions of Officer Sicknick's autopsy report must be released pursuant to FOIA.

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