No. 23-CV-488

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL

### THE POST COMPANY LLC, Appellant,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

# ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

## **BRIEF FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA**

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

CARL S. SCHIFFERLE Deputy Solicitor General

\*HOLLY M. JOHNSON Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 442-9890 holly.johnson@dc.gov

\*Counsel expected to argue

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court should affirm the entry of summary judgment for the District regarding the three categories of records the Post requested under FOIA.

1. The District properly withheld the requested 911 recordings under the investigatory-records exemption. The Post does not challenge the District's initial decision to withhold these recordings, conceding that they are investigatory records, the release of which would interfere with pending enforcement actions. Instead, the Post claims that it is now entitled to some recordings because hundreds of January 6 prosecutions are complete. But these prosecutions do not involve discrete crimes

for which the evidence is segregable. Each prosecution involves the same overarching incident: the attack on the U.S. Capitol and related crimes aimed at preventing Congress from certifying the results of the election. And, for some of the perpetrators, this was a coordinated assault, leading to charges of criminal conspiracy that necessarily encompass crimes committed by others. On top of that, federal investigators are *still* conducting this massive investigation—the largest criminal probe in DOJ history—in which many suspects have yet to be identified. Because the investigation continues unabated, *all* of the requested 911 calls from that day remain important to the investigation, pending prosecutions, and enforcement actions yet to begin.

2. The Post is not entitled to the release of information contained in Officer Sicknick's autopsy report. *First*, an amendment to OCME's enabling act has removed autopsy reports from the scope of documents subject to FOIA disclosure which dispositively negates any entitlement to the report. *Second*, even setting that amendment aside, release of the autopsy report would be a clearly unwarranted invasion of the privacy interests of Officer Sicknick and his family. Every autopsy report contains detailed medical and health information about the decedent that can reveal, for example, prior substance abuse, previous injuries, and gruesome details regarding his death. The Supreme Court has declared that a decedent's family has a vital privacy interest in this information, and the Council has confirmed that interest by explicitly removing autopsy reports from the scope of FOIA. And apart from his family's interest, Officer Sicknick himself has a posthumous privacy interest in this intimate information about his medical history.

On its side of the balancing test, the Post offers no FOIA-recognized public interest in the autopsy report. The only interest it proffers is a need to "reconcil[e]" the medical examiner's conclusion that Officer Sicknick died of natural causes with the Chief Medical Examiner's statement that the events of January 6 "played a role in his condition." Br. 23. These statements, however, are not facially inconsistent. And even if they were, the public's interest in reconciling them does not outweigh Officer Sicknick's interest in the confidentiality of his medical history and his family's interest in avoiding the emotional anguish and harassment that would inevitably follow the report's public release.

3. As requested by the Post, the District properly searched for WhatsApp messages sent by Mayor Bowser between January 6 and 8, 2021. It provided sworn answers to interrogatories by the Mayor's General Counsel as well as a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of the attorney who responded to the Post's FOIA request. This undisputed evidence established that Mayor Bowser used WhatsApp only on her phone, that she did not delete any responsive records or use WhatsApp's "disappearing message" feature, and that she searched her WhatsApp message history and found no responsive messages. Moreover, earlier searches—in response

to requests from Congress and the Department of Defense Inspector General—had not revealed any responsive messages either. The Post has offered nothing but speculation that expanding that search to other devices would lead to the discovery of any responsive records. Nor would requiring Mayor Bowser—the District's highest-ranking official—to testify make any difference because she would simply repeat what the undisputed evidence already says: that she searched her phone and found no responsive records.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. The 911 Call Records Are Investigatory Records That Remain Exempt From Disclosure Because Their Release Would Interfere With An Ongoing Criminal Investigation And Prosecutions.

The trial court properly found that the requested 911 recordings are exempt from disclosure. FOIA's investigatory-records exemption allows agencies to withhold "[i]nvestigatory records compiled for law enforcement purposes" if their production "would . . . [i]nterfere with . . . [e]nforcement proceedings." D.C. Code § 2-534(a)(3). The exemption applies "[s]o long as the investigation continues to gather evidence for a possible future criminal case, and that case would be jeopardized by the premature release of the evidence." *FOP 2014*, 82 A.3d at 815 (quoting *Juarez*, 518 F.3d at 59).<sup>1</sup> Courts "give deference to an agency's predictive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Because many provisions of the D.C. FOIA mirror provisions in the federal Freedom of Information Act," this Court has "found case law interpreting the federal

judgment of the harm that will result from disclosure of information." *Citizens for Resp. & Ethics in Wash. v. U.S. Dep't of Just.* ("*CREW*"), 746 F.3d 1082, 1098 (D.C. Cir. 2014). The agency need only "identif[y] a pending or potential law-enforcement proceeding or provid[e] sufficient facts from which the likelihood of such a proceeding may reasonably be inferred." FOP 2014, 82 A.3d at 815 (quoting *Durrani v. U.S. Dep't of Just.*, 607 F. Supp. 2d 77, 90 (D.D.C. 2009)).

Before an agency can apply any of FOIA's enumerated exemptions, it must "determine whether any portions of the documents are 'reasonably segregable' from the protected portions and, if so, . . . provide those portions to the requestor." *Riley*, 7 A.3d at 1018 (citing D.C. Code § 2-534(b)). The agency then bears the burden of defending the decision to withhold the remaining documents. *Id.* (citing D.C. Code § 2-537(b)). This burden is usually satisfied with a *Vaughn* index, which is an itemized list of documents with the reasons why each has been withheld. But sometimes the *Vaughn* index itself will reveal an investigation's scope, direction, or progress, or "allow[] litigants 'earlier or greater access' to agency investigatory files than they otherwise would have." *NLRB v. Robbins Tire & Rubber Co.*, 437 U.S. 214, 225 (1978). In that situation, the agency can withhold the requested records on a "categorical" or "generic" basis rather than producing a *Vaughn* index. *CREW*,

FOIA to be 'instructive authority with respect to our own Act." *FOP 2013*, 79 A.3d at 354 (quoting *Doe v. D.C. Metro. Police Dep't*, 948 A.2d 1210, 1220 (D.C. 2008)).

746 F.3d at 1098; *see Robbins Tire*, 437 U.S. at 236. To justify this approach, the agency must "define its categories functionally," "conduct a document-by-document review in order to assign documents to the proper category," and "explain to the court how the release of each category would interfere with enforcement proceedings." *FOP 2014*, 82 A.3d at 815 (quoting *Bevis v. U.S. Dep't of State*, 801 F.2d 1386, 1388-90 (D.C. Cir. 1986)).

The District's decision to withhold the requested 911 recordings adheres to these standards. MPD and OUC defined the category functionally, providing the Post with other responsive documents but withholding the 911 recordings regarding "suspicious or criminal acts related to the attack on the United States Capitol on January 6, 2021." SA 8. An MPD attorney reviewed all relevant documents to ensure that they were assigned to the proper category. SA 7-8. She attested that the withheld recordings "were transmitted to USAO for use in the criminal prosecutions of the individuals involved in and responsible for the Capitol riots" and affirmed her understanding that these records "have been deemed sensitive and are under protective orders in the various criminal cases." SA 8.

The Post does not argue that this information was insufficient or untrue at the time the records were withheld. *See* Br. 17-20. It concedes that the 911 recordings are "law-enforcement records," the release of which "could theoretically interfere with ongoing Capitol riot investigations." Br. 17. And while it obliquely suggests

23

that the District's "blanket withholding" of these records has always been improper, *see* Br. 17, it has forfeited any such claim by offering no argument or authority supporting it, *see McFarland v. George Wash. Univ.*, 935 A.2d 337, 351 (D.C. 2007) ("Issues adverted to in a perfunctory manner, unaccompanied by some effort at developed argumentation, are deemed waived.").

The Post's sole developed argument on appeal is that this categorical withholding is no longer appropriate because hundreds of prosecutions are now complete. According to the Post, the District must now "conduct an individualized assessment of the 911 calls, withholding only those recordings that relate to pending or prospective investigations, and releasing those recordings that relate solely to closed investigations." Br. 20.

This, however, misunderstands the nature of the ongoing investigation, pending prosecutions, and prosecutions that have not yet begun. The breach of the Capitol on January 6 was not a series of random and unconnected incidents, lacking in any degree of organization or coordination. *See supra* pp. 5-7. The DOJ thus did not conduct thousands of discrete, severable investigations—it opened a *single* investigation, "the largest criminal probe in Justice Department history." Ryan J. Reilly, *2023 Was a Massive Year in the Jan. 6 Probe. 2024 Will Be Even Bigger*, NBC News (Jan. 6, 2024), https://tinyurl.com/43pxzuy3. And this sprawling investigation "is far from over." Alanna Durkin Richer and Michael Kunzelman,

Hundreds of Convictions, But a Major Mystery Is Still Unsolved 3 Years After the Jan. 6 Capitol Riot (Jan. 5, 2024), https://tinyurl.com/3da8hmc2. As the USAO reported in January 2024, its "investigation and prosecution of those responsible for the attack continues to move forward." 39 Months Since the Jan. 6 Capitol, U.S. Off., District of Attack on the Att'y Columbia, https://tinyurl.com/44w3t24n. Indeed, the FBI "continues to seek the public's help in identifying individuals believed to have committed violent acts on Capitol grounds" and, to that end, has published "videos of suspects wanted for violent assaults on federal officers . . . [and] members of the media on January 6th." Id.; see Richer & Kunzelman, supra ("Authorities are still working to identify more than 80 people wanted for acts of violence at the Capitol."). The FBI and MPD also continue to offer substantial monetary rewards for "information leading to the location, arrest, and conviction of the person(s) responsible for the placement of pipe bombs in Washington, D.C., on January 5, 2021." Most Wanted: U.S. Capitol Violence, FBI, https://tinyurl.com/ycxf4xmt.

"[I]nterference with enforcement proceedings" is presumed whenever a law enforcement agency is required to release "information in investigatory files prior to the completion of an actual, contemplated enforcement proceeding." *FOP 2014*, 82 A.3d at 815 (quoting *Robbins Tire*, 437 U.S. at 232). "[S]o long as the investigation continues to gather evidence for a possible future criminal case, and

25

that case would be jeopardized by the premature release of the evidence," the investigatory records exemption applies. Id. (quoting Juarez, 518 F.3d at 59). The District has more than satisfied this standard. Because the investigation is far from complete, the 911 calls requested by the Post are still needed for the investigation and important to future prosecutions. As the Washington Post reported, citizens began reporting alarming activity—some blatantly criminal—in areas all around the National Mall, Ellipse, and Capitol starting in the early morning hours of January 6 and continuing throughout that day. See generally Rucker, During: Bloodshed, supra. Even in the unlikely event that some calls explicitly identify one suspect and report only the criminal acts of that person, those records would still be relevant to charges against others, including ongoing (or new) conspiracy charges. See, e.g., Press Release, Off. of Pub. Affs., Dep't of Just., Jury Convicts Four Leaders of the Proud Boys of Seditious Conspiracy Related to U.S. Capitol Breach (May 4, 2023), https://tinyurl.com/mr49ubyz (reporting "seditious conspiracy" verdict against leaders of Proud Boys).<sup>2</sup> As such, there simply are no "911 calls that relate solely to th[e] closed investigations and prosecutions." Br. 18. The Superior Court thus properly found that the District was not required to produce any 911 call records responsive to the Post's FOIA request.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These judgments are now on appeal in the D.C. Circuit at Nos. 23-3192 through 23-3196.

This Court should also reject the Post's suggestion that the District's duty to produce documents withheld under the investigatory-records exemption continues even after summary judgment in the Superior Court. See Br. 17-18. The Post cites dictum in *CREW* suggesting that, to justify continued withholding, the enforcement proceeding "must remain pending at the time of our decision, not only at the time of the initial FOIA request." 746 F.3d at 1097. However, in CREW, the D.C. Circuit was remanding the case anyway, id. at 1099, so it had no reason to consider whether adopting such a rule would require it to accept new evidence and make factual findings on appeal. The same is true for the cases on which CREW relied, Sussman v. U.S. Marshals Service, 494 F.3d 1106, 1115 (D.C. Cir. 2007), and August v. FBI, 328 F.3d 697, 698 (D.C. Cir. 2003). Given that the requester can always submit a new FOIA request once enforcement actions are complete or the circumstances have otherwise changed, this Court should not adopt a rule requiring it to consider new evidence on the status of pending prosecutions during appellate briefing, argument, or while its decision is pending. Adopting such a rule would be unwieldy, requiring this Court to make factual findings about records and their connection to pending investigations and prosecutions in the first instance, sometimes years after the trial court's decision. In any event, here, it is clear that the January 6 investigation and prosecutions will continue well into the future. See Richer & Kunzelman, supra.

II. Officer Sicknick's Autopsy Report Is Not A "Public Record" Subject To Disclosure Under FOIA And, In Any Event, Was Properly Withheld Under The Personal-Privacy Exemption.

## A. The Council has removed autopsy reports from the scope of documents subject to FOIA disclosure.

FOIA requires the release only of "public record[s]." D.C. Code § 2-532(a). In February 2023, the Council amended OCME's enabling statute to clarify that the only information in an autopsy report that is a "public record" under FOIA is the decedent's "[n]ame," "[r]ace," "[s]ex," and "[a]ge"; the "[c]ause," "[m]anner," and "[p]lace" of death; and the "[c]ase identification number," "[d]ate of examination," and "[n]ame of the examiner." D.C. Code § 5-1412(c-1).

The Council enacted this amendment to protect the privacy of decedents and their families, who often have no say in whether an autopsy is performed. *See* D.C. Code § 5-1405(b) (requiring OCME to investigate certain deaths). "[A]n ... autopsy report contains highly sensitive and inflammatory information" that, for example, "can shed light on prior substance use by a decedent, provide gruesome details regarding his [death], and include prior medical history or information." D.C. Council, Report on Bill 24-0203, at 3 (Nov. 3, 2022) ("Comm. Report"). Its public release can "prove prejudicial to the decedent's family, who in seeking to move on and heal from the decedent's death, may confront harassment and malicious behavior if such information is disclosed to the public." *Id.* At the same time, the Council recognized that "exempting all OCME records and files from disclosure ...

unfairly tilts the balance toward individual privacy interests." *Id.* at 5. The Council thus "str[uck] a careful balance by making . . . autopsy reports public records" only "with respect to certain information." *Id.* at 6.

This amendment clearly defeats the Post's request for Officer Sicknick's autopsy report. The Post seeks the report with only the photographs redacted. Br. 22-23. And OCME has already released the limited information from the autopsy report that remains subject to FOIA following the Council's amendment: Officer Sicknick's name, race, sex, and age, as well as the cause, manner, and place of his death. *See* 12/23/22 Opp'n to Mot. for Summary Judgment, Ex. 1.

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